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To: Commissioners 

From: Jonathan Wayne, Executive Director 

Date: May 29, 2019 

Re: Recommended Finding of Violation and Penalty / Stephen C. Ball 

 

Stephen C. Ball was a Maine Clean Election Act (MCEA) candidate for the Maine House 

of Representatives in the 2018 elections.  He was not elected to the Legislature.  After 

qualifying for public campaign funding, candidates may only spend MCEA funds for their 

campaign expenditures and may not spend their own money.  The random audit of his 

2018 campaign disclosed that Mr. Ball used $393.96 in personal funds to purchase decals 

to insert the required “paid for and authorized by” information onto his campaign signs.  

Mr. Ball explains that he did not want to burden Maine taxpayers for his mistake when 

ordering the signs. 

 

Applicable Law – Maine Clean Election Act Program 

 

Limits on Spending.  After a candidate has qualified for MCEA funding, he or she may 

spend only public funds received from the state: 

 

After certification, a candidate must limit the candidate's campaign 

expenditures and obligations, including outstanding obligations, to the 

revenues distributed to the candidate from the fund and may not accept any 

contributions unless specifically authorized by the commission.   

 

(21-A M.R.S.A. § 1125(6))  If a candidate violates the MCEA, the Commission may assess 

a penalty of up to $10,000.  (21-A M.R.S.A. § 1127(1)) 
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Facts 

Stephen Ball has provided a detailed description of the transaction in a May 4, 2019 audit 

response letter (attached).  In early April, he ordered signs from a Bangor commercial 

printer, Creative Print Services.  Due to his inexperience (he explains), he neglected to ask 

the printer to include on the signs a statement that he paid for the signs and authorized the 

expenditure.  The print shop owner indicated that the best way to remedy the omission was 

to print one-inch by nine-inch decals containing the disclaimer information to adhere to the 

signs.  The charge was $393.96.  Mr. Ball states that he used personal funds to pay for the 

decals, because he did not feel it was right to charge Maine taxpayers for the expense that 

was due to his mistake.  He did not include the expenditure of $393.96 in his campaign 

finance reports. 

  

Staff Analysis 

The MCEA program is a system of full public campaign financing.  After qualifying for 

public funds, candidates are permitted to spend only MCEA funds for their campaign 

expenditures.  They are not allowed to supplement those MCEA funds with cash from any 

other source, such as the candidate’s own funds.  Not only is spending another source of 

funds explicitly forbidden by 21-A M.R.S.A. § 1125(6), but it also would amount to 

accepting an in-kind contribution which is also forbidden by § 1125(6).  This spending 

limitation is one of the key trade-offs of opting into this voluntary program. 

 

Beginning in 2006, the Commission staff has typically encountered one or two MCEA 

candidates each election year who spent some of their personal funds to pay for campaign 

goods or services – usually due to a bookkeeping or communication error within the 

campaign or by a vendor.  The staff believes that some financial penalty is appropriate, 

even in the case of small, unintentional overspending violations, in order to underscore that 

it is an important responsibility of publicly financed candidates to keep their spending 

within the restrictions of the program: 
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Election 
Year/ 
Office 

Candidate Amount of Overspending – 
Explanation Offered by Candidate 

Outcome 

2006/ 
House 

Anne Graham Spent $253.49 more than was permitted.  
A local newspaper’s delay in charging a 
first-time candidate misled her into 
thinking that she had more campaign 
funds available to spend.

Staff recommended 
$125 penalty. 
Commission assessed 
$50 penalty. 

2008/ 
House 

Frederick Austin Spent $29.85 more than was permitted.  
After treasurer became ill, candidate was 
confused about how much was left in her 
account.

Commission assessed 
$50 penalty. 

2008/ 
House 

Seth Yentes Spent $51.80 more than was permitted.  
Candidate paid for last-minute 
advertising, not realizing that another 
media vendor was late in billing him.

Commission assessed 
$50 penalty. 

2010/ 
Senate 

Roger Katz Spent $1,083.13 more than was 
permitted.  Volunteer made second 
purchase of campaign signs, which 
candidate assumed had been paid.  After 
the bill arrived, the candidate used 
personal funds to pay the bill.

Commission assessed 
$50 penalty. 

2014/ 
House 

Alice Elliott Audit determined candidate used $52.91 
in personal funds for photocopying 
services with her personal funds

Commission assessed 
$50 penalty. 

2018/ 
House 

Cynthia Soma-
Hernandex 

Candidate disclosed that she used 
personal funds of $366.75 to avoid 
having insufficient funds to pay printer.  
She anticipated that her campaign would 
qualify for supplemental payment, but 
did not.

Commission assessed 
$100 penalty. 

 

In this case, the Commission staff recommends assessing a penalty of $100 against Mr. 

Ball, which was the same amount assessed against 2018 candidate Cynthia Soma-

Hernandez.  That candidate spent $366.75 of her personal funds for campaign brochures 

intending to be reimbursed by her campaign, but (due to a misunderstanding concerning a 

deadline) did not have any more campaign funds with which to reimburse herself. 

 

We believe that assessing a penalty of $100 against Mr. Ball is appropriate to reinforce that 

candidates cannot supplement public funds received from the state with personal funds, 
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even if the candidate had good intentions.  Also, it is important to reinforce that all 

campaign expenditures need to be disclosed in campaign finance reports.     

 

You may wish to consider waiving the collection of the $100 penalty, however.  Mr. Ball 

returned $115.31 in unspent MCEA funds to the Commission.  Under the design of the 

program, he should have used this money to pay Creative Print Services, rather than his 

personal funds.  In a sense, the campaign owes him this $115.31 as a partial reimbursement 

for his payment to the printer. 

 

Occasionally, the Commission staff is contacted by an MCEA candidate after a general 

election who has returned unspent MCEA funds and has subsequently determined that they 

owe a debt to a campaign vendor.  In those cases, if the candidate has adequately 

documented the debt, our office will pay the amount of the debt to the campaign so that it 

can pay the vendor.  Similarly, you may feel Mr. Ball is entitled to receive $115.31 to 

partially reimburse him for the payment to Creative Print Services.  Rather than collect a 

$100 penalty from Mr. Ball and pay him $115.31, you may wish to consider it a “wash” 

and not collect the $100 penalty.  This outcome might lessen the deterrent of the $100 

penalty, but it is an option that is available to you, in your discretion.  

 

Thank you for your consideration of this item. 










